Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-4-2013

Frontier Development Group v. Caravella Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40581

4. Facts Regarding the Operation of FDG
II. ISSUES P	RESENTED ON APPEAL
	YEY FEES ON APPEAL
IV. ARGUM	ENT
A.	STANDARD OF REVIEW
В.	THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDINGS DEMONSTRATE THAT
	CARAVELLAS PROVED THE SCIENTER ELEMENT OF FRAUD18
	1. Caravellas Proved that Horn/FDG Knew or Should Have Known that
	Horn's Statements Regarding the Value, Condition, Quality and
	Workmanship of the Home Prior to Purchase Were False
	a. Value of Home $\overline{20}$
	b. Condition & Quality of the Home, and Workmanship of
	Construction
	2. Caravellas Proved that Horn/FDG Knew or Should Have Known That
	Horn's Statements Regarding the Progress and Quality of the Work
	Performed Pursuant to the Contract with Them Were False27
	3. Horn/FDG Knew or Should Have Known He Was Overbilling Caravellas
	for the Authorized Work Performed on the Home
C.	HORN IS PERSONALLY LIABLE BECAUSE HE ENTERED THE
	CONTRACT WITH CARAVELLAS AS THE AGENT FOR AN
	UNDISCLOSED PRINCIPAL
D.	THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE CONCLUDED THAT FDG WAS
	AN "ALTER EGO" OF HORN AND "PIERCED THE CORPORATE VEIL" 39
V. CONCLU	SION
CERTIFICAT	E OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

CASES
Brian & Christie, Inc. v. Leishman Electric, LLC, 150 Idaho 22, 244 P.3d 166 (2010) 17
Bullitt v. Farrar, 43 N.W. 566 (Minn. 1889)
Carney v. Heinson, 133 Idaho 275, 985 P.2d 1137 (1999)
Deer Creek, Inc. v. Clarendon Hot Springs Ranch, Inc., 107 Idaho 286, 688 P.2d 1191 (Ct. App. 1984). 44, 45
Dengler v. Hazel Blessinger Family Trust, 141 Idaho 123, 106 P.3d 449 (2005) 18
Faw v. Greenwood, 101 Idaho 387, 613 P.2d 1338 (1980)
First Nat. Bank of Tigerton v. Hackett, 149 N.W. 703 (Wis. 1914)
Fox v. Cosgrith, 66 Idaho 371, 159 P.2d 224 (1945)
G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co., 119 Idaho 514, 808 P.2d 851 (1991)
General Auto Parts Co. v. Genuine Parts Co., 132 Idaho 849, 979 P.2d 1207 (1999) 24, 30
General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Turner Ins. Agency, Inc., 96 Idaho 691, 535 P.2d 664 (1975)
Gertsch v. Johnson & Johnson, Fin. Corp. (In re Gertsch), 237 B.R. 160 (9th Cir. BAP 1999). 24
<i>In re Houtman</i> , 568 F.2d 651 (9th Cir. 1978)
<i>In re Miller</i> , 39 F.3d 301 (11th Cir. 1994)
Insurance Co. of N. Am. v. Cohn (In re Cohn), 54 F.3d 1108 (3d Cir. 1995)
Interlode Constructors v. Bryant, 132 Idaho 443, 974 P.2d 89 (Ct. App. 1999)35, 38
Jordan v. Hunter, 124 Idaho 899 (Ct. App. 1993)
<i>Keller Lorenz Co. v. Ins. Assocs. Corp.</i> , 98 Idaho 678, 570 P.2d 1366 (Idaho 1977) 32, 34

Kirkpatrick v. Reeves, 22 N.E. 139 (Ind. 1889)
Lee v. Nickerson, 146 Idaho 5, 189 P.3d 467 (2008)
Lindberg v. Roseth, 137 Idaho 222, 46 P.3d 518 (2002)
Liner v. Armstrong Homes of Bremerton, Inc., 579 P.2d 367 (Wash.App. 1978) 25
Manning v. Len Immke Buick, Inc., 276 N.E.2d 253 (Ohio App.1971)
Marco Distributing, Inc. v. Biehl, 97 Idaho 853, 555 P.2d 393 (1976)
Maroun v. Wyreless Sys., 141 Idaho 604 (2005)
Marshall v. Blair, 130 Idaho 675, 946 P.2d 975 (1997)
Martin v. Bank of Germantown (In re Martin), 761 F.2d 1163 (6th Cir. 1985)
McCluskey Commissary, Inc. v. Sullivan, 96 Idaho 91, 524 P.2d 1063 (1974)
National Union Fire Ins. Co., Pa. v. Bonnanzio (In re Bonnanzio), 91 F.3d 296 (2d Cir. 1996). 24
Norris v. First Nat'l Bank (In re Norris), 70 F.3d 27 (5th Cir. 1996)
Parker v. Herron, 30 Idaho 327, 164 P. 1013 (1917)
Providence State Bank v. Bohannon, 426 F.Supp. 886 (E.D.Mo.1977)
Ross v. Coleman Co., 114 Idaho 817, 761 P.2d 1169 (1988)
Samuel v. Hepworth, Nungester & Lezamiz, Inc., 134 Idaho 84, 996 P.2d 303 (2000) 18
Schlossman's v. Niewinski, 79 A.2d 870 (N.J. 1951)
Sirius LC v. Erickson, 150 Idaho 80, 244 P.3d 224 (2010)
Smart & Perry Ford Sales, Inc. v. Weaver, 274 N.E.2d 718 (Ind.App. 1971)
Sowards v. Rathbun, 134 Idaho 702, 8 P.3d 1245 (2000)
Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Rose Chapel Mortuary, 95 Idaho 599, 514 P.2d 594 (1973)

Vanderford Co., Inc. v. Primary Residential Mortgage, Inc., 144 Idaho 547, 165 P.3d 261 (2007)
Welch v. Laraway, 2010 Bankr. LEXIS 3041, at 10 (Bankr. D. Idaho Sept. 13, 2010) 34, 37, 38
Western Seeds v. Bartu, 109 Idaho 70, 704 P.2d 974 (Ct. App. 1985)
Zuhlke v. Anderson Buick, Inc., 94 Idaho 634, 496 P.2d 95 (1972)
STATUTES Idaho Code § 12-120(3)
Idaho Code § 30-6-101
Idaho Code § 45-507
Idaho § Code 30-6-304(2)
RULES Idaho Appellate Rule 40
Idaho Appellate Rule 41
OTHER AUTHORITIES 37 Am Jur 2d <i>Fraud and Deceit</i> § 119 (2012)
37 Am Jur 2d <i>Fraud and Deceit</i> § 120 (2012)
37 Am Jur 2d <i>Fraud and Deceit</i> § 121 (2012)
37 Am Jur 2d <i>Fraud and Deceit</i> § 122
37 Am. Jur. 2d <i>Fraud and Deceit</i> § 49
Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 526(c)
Restatement (Third) Agency, § 6.03 (2006)
W. Prosser, Torts, § 701 (4th Ed. 1971)

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal is taken from the order dismissing Appellants Louis and Patricia Caravella ("Caravellas") counterclaims for fraud and misrepresentation, as contained in the district court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and order of dismissal, and resulting judgment entered by the District Court for the Seventh Judicial District in Teton County following a full trial, with the court acting as finder of fact. This consolidated lawsuit originated as two separate actions seeking to foreclose mechanics liens filed by Respondent Frontier Development Group, LLC ("FDG") and Yellowstone Do It Center, LLC ("Yellowstone"). Yellowstone is not involved in this appeal. Both actions related to work and materials allegedly provided on the construction of a home (the "Home" or the "Property") for the Caravellas. The Caravellas counter-claimed against FDG and Yellowstone, and joined Respondent Michael Horn ("Horn"), the principal owner/manager of FDG, as a counter-defendant. The Caravellas sought damages for, inter alia, breach of contract, construction defects, consumer protection violations, slander of title and fraud. Following trial, the district court dismissed both FDG's and Yellowstone's lien claims, and awarded damages, fees and costs to the Caravellas against FDG in the total amount of \$245,525, and against Yellowstone in the amount of \$29,865. The district court did not, however, award any damages against Horn personally. (R. Vol. II P. 387.)

The primary issues on appeal address fraud and the personal liability of Horn. Appellants respectfully submit that the district court failed to properly apply its own findings of fact when it

concluded that Caravellas proved only eight of the nine elements of fraud, failing only to prove that Horn *knew* his statements were false. Appellants further assert that the district court also erred in failing to conclude that Horn is personally liable as an agent for an undisclosed principal because he failed to disclose that he was acting for FDG before or at the time he contracted with the Caravellas, and also that Horn is liable as the alter ego of FDG.

B. Course of Proceedings Below

- 1. FDG filed its Complaint for foreclosure on February 20, 2009. (R. Vol. I, P. 1.)
- 2. The Caravellas filed their Answer and Counterclaim to FDG's Complaint, and joined Horn as a counterdefendant on April 6, 2009, seeking damages for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of the Consumer Protection Act, slander of title, and misrepresentation. (R. Vol. I, P. 5.)
 - 3. Yellowstone filed its Complaint for foreclosure on June 1, 2009.
 - 4. The cases were consolidated on December 1, 2009.
 - 5. Caravellas filed their Answer to Yellowstone's Complaint on January 29, 2010.
- 6. Caravellas filed an Amended Counterclaim on October 19, 2010, seeking damages from Horn and FDG for breaches of contract, implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, Consumer Protection Act, and the warranty of habitability, as well as slander of title, fraud and misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy; Caravellas sought damages from Yellowstone for slander of title, civil conspiracy and negligence. (R. Vol. I, P. 122.)

- 7. Horn/FDG and Yellowstone filed their Answer to the Amended Counterclaim on November 12, 2010, and an Amended Answer to Amended Counterclaim on November 18, 2010. (R. Vol. I, P. 136, 143.)
 - 8. The trial was held December 13-16, 2011, with the court acting as finder of fact.
- The Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on March 29, 2012. (R.
 Vol. II, P. 316.)¹
- 10. On October 31, 2012, the Court entered an Order and Final Judgment awarding attorney fees, cost and prejudgment interest to the Caravellas against FDG in the total amount of \$245,525, and against Yellowstone in the total amount of \$29,865. Caravellas' claims against Horn personally were dismissed. (R. Vol. II, P. 368, 386.)
 - 11. Caravellas filed a Notice of Appeal on December 12, 2012. (R. Vol. II, P. 389.)

C. Concise Statement of Facts

In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Court concluded that the Caravellas failed to prove Horn/FDG's knowledge of the falsity of various misrepresentations. However, the district court's own findings of fact and other evidence in the Record demonstrate that the Caravellas in fact proved the scienter element of fraud.

¹ Subsequent references to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law will refer to either the "Findings #" or "Conclusions #", and the page number where it can be found in Volume II of the Clerk's Record.

1. Facts Regarding the "Condition, Quality and Value of the Home and Workmanship of the Construction Performed on the Home Before [Caravellas] Purchased It," and Demonstrating Horn's Overall Intent to Misrepresent Facts.

In March, 2008, the Caravellas resided in Ohio and were looking to purchase a home in Teton Valley for their retirement. The Caravellas' real estate agent, Mark Griese, told them about the partially constructed Home (the subject of this lawsuit), which was being listed by another agent in his office, Kathleen Horn. (Findings #26, p. 324-25.) The Home had been under construction by her husband, Michael Horn. The Home was about half completed before the original owner, Richard Myers ("Myers), encountered financial difficulty and declared bankruptcy. (Findings #6-8, p. 319.) Myers' lender, First Horizon Home Loans ("First Horizon"), had initiated foreclosure proceedings on the Property when the Caravellas became interested in purchasing it. (Findings #9, 26, p. 319.)

Horn's dealings with Myers and First Horizon demonstrate his overall fraudulent intent and disregard for the truth. During the time when Horn/FDG was constructing the Home for Myers, Horn/FDG submitted pay requests to First Horizon and was paid a total of \$656,173. (Findings #12, p. 320.) With each pay request, Horn certified that the improvements for which payment was sought had been "completed as per the 'Plans and Specifications'... except for the 'Change Orders' listed below," and that all bills from the previous draw had been paid. (Findings #10-12, p. 320-21.)

Nevertheless, there were several substantial items of work for which Horn was paid in full after certifying that they were complete, but which were neither installed nor found on the Property when the Caravellas later purchased the Home, (Findings #13-25, p. 321-323), including the following:

- a. \$10,879 for siding materials, (Findings #13-18, p. 321-22);
- b. \$5,725 for staining 19,744 linear feet of siding and exterior trim, (*Id.*);
- c. \$15,000 for 100% of the required soffit and facia, (*Id.*);
- d. \$3,500 for a propane tank, certified as 100% completed, (Findings #19);
- e. \$5,000 for steel beams, certified as 100% completed, (Findings #20);
- f. \$5,000 for fireplace inserts, (Findings #21);
- g. \$24,000 for a septic tank and well, certified as 100% completed, (Findings #22);
- h. \$14,397.98 for cabinets, (Findings #23); and
- i. \$3,500 for roof flashing, certified as 100% completed, (Findings #24).

Thus, more than \$87,000 worth of labor or materials were never performed or installed, despite Horn's multiple certifications under oath that the work was completed and his receipt of full payment for such actually incomplete work. Accordingly, the amount of work and materials that were actually completed on the Home was no more than \$570,000, and perhaps less.

When construction was halted for Myers in March 2007, significant framing issues remained, including an incomplete roof, exposed door openings, exposed window openings and incomplete structural framing. Thus, the Home was left exposed to snow, rain, sun and wind for at least fourteen months. (Findings #8, p. 319.)

When the Caravellas later became interested in the Property, nearly all of the communications with Horn were conducted via email, all of which were admitted as evidence at trial. (Findings #27, p. 324; Horn testimony, Tr. Vol. I., p. 402, L. 12-21; Def's Exhibits A-E; Pl's Exhibits 9-18.) In their initial contacts, Horn advised the Caravellas that the Property had been "sitting untouched for over a year." (Findings #27.) Horn also advised the Caravellas that First Horizon would not sell the Property for less than \$800,000. (*Id.*) Horn represented to the Caravellas "that the value of the property was \$1.2 million dollars, with \$800,000 worth of construction

completed and the lot having a value of \$400,000." (Findings #28.) Caravellas submit that it was impossible for Horn <u>not</u> to have known he had truly performed at most \$570,000 worth of construction on the Home, as explained above. Thus, Caravellas were led to believe a substantially greater proportion of construction had been completed towards finishing a \$1.2 million project.

Horn also "represented his skills as a builder in 'superlative terms," and he told the Caravellas that he was "one of the best builders, if not the best," in Teton Valley. "He told them that regarding home interiors, 'many have tried' to match his interior work, 'but all have failed."" (Findings #29, p. 324.) In an email sent to the Caravellas on March 21, 2008, Horn represented that "[m]y personal cabinet maker sets up shop in your garage NO other builder can touch my cabinets and my guy only works for me." (March 21 email, Ex. D, p. 6-7.) At trial, however, Horn admitted that other than two homes he built for himself, one of which was a in Utah, he had only been involved with building eight other homes, all of which were constructed between 2006 and 2009, and that Myers' house was only the third or fourth. (Findings #157-60, p. 346; Tr. Vol I, p. 373, 375-77, 411-12.) Moreover, "Horn testified that he has no actual hands-on construction skills. He has not performed concrete, framing, HVAC, electrical, or any other construction work." (Findings #30, p. 324.) All of the actual work on the homes he "built" was actually performed by subcontractors, (Findings #159, p. 346), which would necessarily include the interior work that "all have failed" to match. Certainly, Horn could not have believed that the best cabinet maker in the area worked solely for someone who only built 8 houses, nor that the subcontractors who actually performed such praiseworthy interior work could somehow not duplicate it in other homes.

Also during their early email correspondence, discussing the cost of construction, "Horn informed the Caravellas that 'Chase's' construction loan rates were the best, but not if the loan was for a 'second' home." (Findings #31, p. 325.) Horn recommended that the Caravellas make false representations to "Chase" bank to secure the best available financing. He advised that the Caravellas should "apply for the loan and initially represent that they were trying to sell their existing home, so that they could obtain the most favorable financing. They were then advised to 'change [their] mind' about selling their first home when the construction was completed." (*Id.*) This type of advice is indicative of Horn's character and general disregard for the truth.²

"Mr. Caravella testified that he relied upon Horn's statements concerning his skills as a builder. He testified that Horn's persuasive assurances and statements about his skills and experience caused them to trust him and to rely upon his representations." (Findings #32, p. 325.) In contrast to Horn's bold claims about his skills, the district court found that Horn was incompetent as a general contractor/builder. (Conclusions #47, p. 356, and #44, p. 355.)

The district court found that "[b]ased on the information the Caravellas received from Horn about the home," they offered to purchase the property from Myers in early April, 2008. (Findings #33-34, p. 325.) Less than two hours after the Caravellas accepted a counteroffer from Myers, whose real estate agent was Horn's wife, "Horn recorded a new mechanics lien for \$23,000 against the property on behalf of FDG." (Findings #36, p. 325.) According to Horn's testimony, the basis for

² It should be noted that the Caravellas rejected Horn's advice. They proceeded with construction without a loan, on a cash-available basis.

the lien was a temporary handrail installed in the Home, as well as unpaid old work performed for Myers. (Findings #37, p. 325; Tr. Vol. I, p. 477.) Horn's self-serving assertions are wholly contradicted by his own representations to the Caravellas that the Home had sat untouched for over a year. (Findings #27, p. 324.) The obviously unfounded and wrongful lien³ was paid in full when Caravellas closed on the Property. (Findings #37, p. 325.)

Pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement with Myers, the Caravellas had the opportunity to inspect the Property and terminate the agreement. (Pl's Exhibit 3, p. 2.) In late April 2008, the Caravellas traveled from Ohio to Teton Valley to meet with Horn and inspect the Property. They reviewed detailed drawings of the house plans with Horn, and met with him on two consecutive days to review and inspect the Property. (Findings #38, p 325-26.) "The Caravellas testified that Horn pointed out just two interior framing/structural issue during his inspection of the property: a missing support post and an inadequate structural beam. Horn told them that the beam would need to be enhanced." (Findings #41, p. 326.) "Horn advised the Caravellas that certain structural, framing and leaking issues needed to be remedied as soon as possible. Mrs. Caravella testified that while she had concerns about water intrusion into the house, Horn minimized the problems and told the Caravellas the Home was 'in good shape,' 'structurally sound' and a 'great house.'" (Findings #42, p. 326; see also Findings #69, p. 331.) Horn did not disclose any other deficiencies in the construction of the Home, (Findings #70, p.331), nor did he disclose the fact that he had "modified the written plans for

³ Idaho Code § 45-507 requires filing a lien with 90 days of completion of the last work. Horn's last work was more than a year previous.

the roof without an architect or engineer's involvement." (Findings #108, p. 338.) The modification was ultimately found to be defective and required repair/correction to stop leaking. (*Id.*)

The district court ultimately concluded that in purchasing the Property "the Caravellas relied heavily upon Horn's representations as to the condition of the Home. In lieu of bringing in an outside inspector, Caravellas relied upon the builder [Horn] who would be completing the home to confirm its condition. . . . Horn knew that Caravellas were relying upon his assessment of the home's condition." (Conclusions #37, p. 354.)

2. Additional Facts Regarding Progress and Quality of the Work Performed By Horn/FDG Pursuant to the Contract

The Caravellas and Horn agreed "that the home would be constructed in accordance with the original written plans, subject to Caravellas' requested changes." They further agreed that the Home would be completed in phases, and that a new phase would not be approved until the previous phase was complete and the Caravellas confirmed that they had sufficient funds. The goal of the first phase was to shore up all structural defects and get the exterior enclosed before winter. (Findings #55 and 57, p. 328-29.)

The total contract price for the work authorized by the Caravellas on the Home for the first phase was \$88,500, itemized as follows:

- a. Exterior stone, structural framing and roof ridge vents: \$50,000;
- b. Exterior wrap, siding and stain: \$35,000;
- c. Exterior plumbing and electrical rough-ins: \$2,500;
- d. Two additional windows: \$1,000; and
- e. Additional stone on the utility room: no additional cost.

(Findings #61, p. 329; see also Findings # 58 and 60.)

At various times throughout the project for Caravellas, as he had done when building for Myers, Horn misrepresented to the Caravellas that major, critical portions of the work had been completed according to the plans when, in fact, such work was neither completed nor did it conform to the plans. Those items include the exterior stone work, (Findings #66, p. 330; #111-12, p. 338-39); the exterior siding, (Findings #72-73, p. 331); garage and "barn" doors, (Findings #82-83, p. 333); and ridge vents and flashing on the roof, (Findings #71, p. 331). Horn also had identified two specific structural framing issues, which he advised needed to be completed "ASAP," but he never had any work done on either structural issue. (Findings #69-70, p. 331.)

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