Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-30-2013

Frontier Development Group v. Caravella Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40581

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

III.ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The party alleging intentional misrepresentation or fraud has the burden of proving the elements of fraud by clear and convincing evidence. *Lindberg v. Roseth*, 137 Idaho 222, 225, 46 P.3d 518, 521 (2002). If the district judge's findings of fact are supported by substantial and competent evidence, the appellate court will not disturb those findings. *Id.* The Supreme Court exercises free review over the district judge's conclusions of law. *Id.*

The trial court's determination that a claim has not been proven is entitled to great weight on appeal. *Sowards v. Rathbun*, 134 Idaho at 706, 8 P.3d at 1249 (2000). This Court's review of a trial court's decision is limited to ascertaining whether the evidence supports the findings of

fact and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. *Id.* The Supreme Court may not set aside a trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, that is, unless the challenged finding is not supported by substantial, competent evidence. *Id.*, 134 Idaho 702, 707, 8 P.3d 1245, 1250.

The substantial evidence standard for appellate review requires a greater quantum of evidence in cases where the trial court's finding must be supported by clear and convincing evidence, than in cases where mere preponderance is required. *Id.* When reviewing the trial court's findings of fact in a case in which the facts must be established by clear and convincing evidence, the job of the reviewing court is simply to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to sustain the finding. *Id.*

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT FRAUD WAS NOT PRESENT.

Fraud must be pled with particularity. That is, the alleging party must specify what factual circumstances constituted the fraud. I.R.C.P. 9(b); *Glaze v. Deffenbaugh*, 144 Idaho 829, 833, 172 P.3d 1104, 1108 (2007). A party must establish nine elements to prove fraud: 1) a statement or a representation of fact; 2) its falsity; 3) its materiality; 4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity; 5) the speaker's intent that there be reliance; 6) the hearer's ignorance of the falsity of the statement; 7) reliance by the hearer; 8) justifiable reliance; and 9) resultant injury. (*Id.*)

The district court, using a <u>preponderance of the evidence</u> standard, found that the Caravellas established the presence of eight out of nine elements of fraud set forth in *Glaze*, but could not establish by a <u>preponderance of evidence</u> that Horn and/or Norman *knew* their statements were false. (Conclusions #43). Although the district court ultimately came to the

correct result, it did not find that the other eight elements of fraud were present by a clear and convincing standard.

A preponderance of the evidence is such evidence as, when weighed with that opposed to it, has more convincing force and from which it results that the greater probability of truth lies therein. *Cook v. W. Field Seeds, Inc.*, 91 Idaho 675, 681, 429 P.2d 407, 413 (1967). A clear and convincing standard is generally understood to be evidence indicating that the thing to be proved is highly probable or reasonably certain. *In re Adoption of Doe*, 143 Idaho 188, 141 P.3d 1057 (2006) (*citing* BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 577 (7th ed.1999). Under the correct standard of clear and convincing, this Court should affirm the district court's holding that fraud is not present.

a. Horn's Statements regarding the Value, Condition, Quality and Workmanship of the Home Prior to Purchase were not fraudulent.

The district court found that the Caravellas had established the presence of eight out of nine elements of fraud by a preponderance of the evidence, but was unable to conclude that Caravellas established that Horn *knew* his statements were false. (Conclusions #43).

The district court erred in its Conclusions by using a lower standard than required to prove the elements of fraud. Nevertheless, the district court could not find Horn liable for fraud. Under the correct evidentiary standard, the court likely would not have found that any of these eight elements were satisfied. Since this Court reviews issues of law *de novo*, it reviews whether there is substantial and competent evidence of each element to a clear and convincing standard. *Id*.

i. Value of the Home

Caravellas entire claim relies on their argument that Horn deceived them and misrepresented the subject property from the very beginning of their discussions. Horn had no purpose to deceive them. Horn had no financial stake in the property and, at most, he was discussing the property with a potential buyer, who may possibly hire FDG to finish the property sometime in the future.

The district court found that Horn told the Caravellas that the subject property had been sitting untouched for over a year; that First Horizon would not allow the property to be sold for less than \$800,000, and that other prospective buyers had tried unsuccessfully to purchase it for less. (Findings # 27). The district court also found that Horn represented to Caravellas that the value of the property was \$1.2 million, with \$800,000 worth of construction completed and the lot having a value of \$400,000. (Findings # 28). Caravellas argue that Horn misrepresented the value of the property. Lacking from their argument is any evidence of the actual value of the property. Caravella have inferred that the value of the property is equal to the cost of the materials expended on the project, plus the value of the lot. However, there is no clear and convincing evidence to support a finding of the actual value, misrepresentation of the actual value of the subject property, or the difference alleged from Horn's estimates. Horn had no relationship with Carvellas at that time.

Caravellas claim that it is impossible for Horn not to have known that the items of work he certified as complete to Myers and First Horizon were never in fact incorporated into the project's construction, and thus the amount used in the project was less than what FDG was paid.

(Appellants' brief, p. 19). Caravellas further claim that Horn "misrepresented" to them numerous times that \$800,000 worth of construction had been completed which is nearly one and one-half (1½) times the amount he knew had actually been completed.² (*Id.*)

The district court did not reach a conclusion that these were <u>representations of fact</u> (first element of fraud) regarding the value of the property by a clear and convincing standard. These representations were Horn's opinion regarding an incomplete project FDG had worked on 14 months prior. When Caravella first inquired about the property, Horn stated:

The River Rim house was/is owned by a 26 year old kid from California who was given a zero down payment loan by the bank. He hired me to build the house after he had gone through design with a local draftsman. About 50% complete, the kid filed personal bankruptcy and the bank cutoff the construction funds. The house has sat in the current state for about 1-year. The bank won't accept anything less than \$800K, many have tried and all have been rejected. With the \$400K lot included, approximately \$1.2M was expended on the project. Given the potential \$800K purchase price, the \$400K lot is free so to speak. We need between \$750K and \$1M to finish the project to high-end standards similar to my Teton Springs house. If you're looking for a second or primary home, the house is a very good deal if you like River Rim Ranch. But if it is for spec/flip purposes, I would not recommend a spec house anywhere right now.

(Defendants' Exhibit A). These financial representations and values are actually fairly meaningless in the context of Horn's representations to Caravella. The general representations were given to Caravella more than a month and a half prior to any agreement between Caravella

² Caravella also claims that Horn had a personal financial interest in the sale because his wife was the selling real estate agent and that Horn intended to record his untimely, unfounded lien for \$23,000 which was paid out of the closing funds. These claims carry little evidentiary weight; throughout the email conversations between Horn and Caravella, they discussed numerous properties that Horn owned where Horn had an actual financial interest. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 10). There is absolutely zero evidence that Horn had any financial interest through his wife's representation of Myers. Further, Horn had disclosed the lien to Caravella during these initial email conversations. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 16).

and Horn to finish the Myers' property. Horn had not reviewed the documentation for the expenditures on the project prior to his emails with Caravella, as he no longer had any of the documents. (Findings #23).

The district court did not find by a clear and convincing standard that this representation was <u>false</u> (second element of fraud). This representation accurately depicts the project as 50% complete. (Findings #8) The total expected build cost for the Project was \$1,248,000.00. (Defendant Exhibit HHHH). Therefore, if the actual amount of expenditures on the project (minus the cost of the lot) was \$570,000, as claimed by Caravella, Horn accurately represented that the home was 50% complete. Horn also accurately depicted that the bank would not accept anything less than \$800,000. There had been several offers under \$800,000 on the property, including Caravella's first offer, which were declined. Lastly, Horn described the amount he believed was required to finish the project at up to \$1,000,000.

Further, Caravellas provided nothing for the record regarding an assessed value of the home by an expert who is qualified to make such an assessment. Horn was a building contractor, not a real estate agent. Horn had some knowledge as to the amount expended on the project and the value at that time FDG was on the project, but Horn was not qualified to assess the value of the property at the time Caravellas purchased the property, and the district court was no finding as to the actual value of the property.

The district court did not find by a clear and convincing standard that this representation was <u>material</u> (third element of fraud). The district court generally found that the Caravellas relied on Horn's representations regarding the home in order to prepare an offer to purchase the

property from Myers. (Findings #33). There was no finding that the Caravellas relied on representations after they personally inspected the property, and there is no evidence to support such an assertion.

Dr. Caravella, as a knowledgeable buyer, personally inspected the property. The fact that he knew there were other offers on the property superseded any representation made by Horn. On April 14, 2008, Caravellas submitted a cash offer of \$749,000.00 on the project property prior to visiting the site. (Findings #34; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 97, p. 25, ll. 8-10). Caravellas specifically included a provision in the purchase agreement that they had the right to inspect the property and/or had the right to back out of the Agreement at any time for any reason prior to May 10. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 10). Dr. Caravella then chose to personally inspect the property for two consecutive days, even though he understood that he could have hired an expert to inspect the project, structurally or otherwise. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 97, p. 34, l. 1; p. 62, ll. 6-21). He testified that he relied on his own expertise in performing this inspection. (Id., p. 40, ll. 2-5). At the time of the inspection, Caravellas had not decided to purchase the property, nor had they hired Horn to inspect the property or finish the construction (Id., p. 71, ll. 15-18). There is no clear and convincing evidence that any representations by Horn were material, because Dr. Caravella made his own assessment of the property when he inspected it.

Further, there is no evidence on record that Caravellas would not have purchased the property for the same price, absent any statements of value from Horn. Dr. Caravella was aware that there were other offers on the property and that First Horizon would not accept any offer below \$799,000. Caravellas presented no evidence that they would have rescinded their offer

absent Horn's representation of the value of the property, or that they could have purchased the property at a lower price.

The district court did not find, even by the lower preponderance of the evidence standard, that Horn <u>intentionally misrepresented</u> (fourth element of fraud) any issue of fact to Caravellas. (Conclusion #43). There was no evidence of when Horn last reviewed the documentation in order to find that he could have intentionally misrepresented the value of the property. There was no evidence that Horn indicated to Dr. Caravella that an inspection or appraisal was not necessary. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 264, Il. 15-24). These were general representations of his opinion on which a fraud claim cannot be predicated. *Jordan v. Hunter*, 124 Idaho 899, 907, 865 P.2d 990, 998 (Ct. App. 1993). Caravellas' claim is pure speculation that Horn's estimate of the expenditures into the project equate to the actual value of the property, or that Horn was intentionally misrepresenting anything in regard to the project.

The district court did not find by a clear and convincing standard that Horn's <u>intent was</u> that there be reliance (fifth element of fraud). Horn had not been hired by Caravellas when he gave Dr. Caravella his opinion regarding the property. Dr. Caravella had not even made up his mind to hire Horn at this time. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 97, p. 69, Il. 4-5; p. 71, Il. 17-18).

The district court did not find by a clear and convincing standard that the Caravellas were ignorant of the falsity of the representation (sixth element) of value or that they actually relied (seventh element of fraud) on such representations. Caravella is attempting to represent to this Court that a sophisticated buyer such as himself, who personally spent two days inspecting the property, disregarded his own due diligence of assessing documents of the previous construction

contract (such as First Horizon's draw sheet) and relied solely on this representation by Horn as to the value of a property that had been sitting dormant for 14 months for a cash purchase of \$799,000.00.

Dr. Caravella relied on his own inspection of the property and was satisfied that another inspection was unnecessary because of his substantial background and experience. The district court found that Caravellas relied on Horn's representations when they made the revocable offer; Caravellas decided to purchase the property only after Dr. Caravella's own inspection.

The district court did not find by a clear and convincing standard that the Caravellas justifiably relied (eighth element of fraud) on the representation. In fact, the district court's findings are contrary. The district court found that Caravellas relied on Horn's representations to put in an offer on the property. (Findings #33). This offer was revocable, and the Caravellas could rescind the contract for any reason prior to May 10. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3). Dr. Caravella subsequently inspected the property two consecutive days, finding several construction issues, and then proceeded with the purchase the property.

When a purchaser is given the opportunity to conduct an independent investigation *and does so*, it is generally held that he is not entitled to rely on alleged misrepresentations of the seller.³ *Snow's Auto Supply, Inc., v. Dormaier*, 108 Idaho 73, 78, 696 P.2d 924, 929 (Ct. App. 1985); *Nelson v. Hoff*, 70 Idaho 354, 360, 218 P.2d 345, 349 (1950) (A party is not entitled to relief on the ground of false representations where he does not rely upon them but relies on his

³ It is important that there was no privity between these parties. Caravella had no right to rely on Horn for any representation at that point. These representations do not later merge into the agreement when Caravella hired FDG/Horn to perform subsequent work. If Caravella would have hired someone else to complete the construction there would be no merit to a claim for these representations, and the Court should find no right to rely in this situation.

own judgment or investigations or his own examination of the property involved); *Walker v. Nunnenkamp*, 84 Idaho 485, 490-91, 373 P.2d 559, 562 (1962) (Where a party relies upon his own investigation or judgment as to the value of property, he is not entitled to relief upon the ground of false representations).⁴

At the time of the initial discussions with Horn, Caravellas had not hired FDG/Horn to inspect the property, assess the value, or finish the construction on the project. Horn was not a party to the purchase agreement. At best, Horn was hoping to represent his ability in a way so that he would be hired in the future by Caravellas to build a home, or finish the construction on the Myers' project. A sophisticated purchaser such as Dr. Caravella cannot claim that he justifiably relied on a representation by a person that had zero interest in the alleged representation and is not in the business of assessing the value of real estate in the first place.

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